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Author’s Note



Warriors in Scarlet is a study of the lives of Victorian soldiers in the early part of Queen Victoria’s reign, at a time when the British Empire was consolidating its role as an imperial superpower. It follows the adventures and experiences of rural labourers, urban mill-workers and slum-dwellers and the sons of the minor gentry after they had assumed the famous red coat, and explores some of the very different factors which made them enlist – which, for the officers, fell somewhere between the need to confirm a place in the complex hierarchy of British society, or to follow a family tradition, or sometimes just for adventure and preferment, and, surprisingly often, to find an outlet for the ideals and patriotism with which they were inculcated in the public school system; but which, for the ordinary soldiers, had more to do with a pragmatic need to escape the grind of poverty, and the hard choice between ‘Jack Frost and unemployment’ – and the journeys which befell them on the road from innocence, of a sort, to experience. For some of them, particularly those who had never before been outside the confines of their country village, or beyond the maze of their Dickensian slums, the wider world was a place of wonder and dread, of unnerving marvels and strange people whose appearance, customs and cultures seemed alien in a way which modern readers, in the age of the Discovery Channel, can hardly grasp. It’s probably part of the process of all developing imperial ideologies that the values and agenda of the dominant elite are manipulated and massaged to provide an ideological umbrella to mask what is often a pretty cynical process of national aggrandisement – and the Victorians were no more likely than people today to step outside the boundaries of their assumptions, and certainly took it for granted that British ideals and beliefs were innately superior, and that questionable aims, or even methods, could in the end always thereby be justified. The role of race within a developing empire is a complex one – a raft of PhDs have no doubt been written analysing the issue in every corner of the world where Britain had an impact, and left a legacy – but it goes without saying that a sense of superiority and mission is never truly compatible with a respect for differences in appearance and culture. And soldiers’ attitudes towards their enemy in wartime are often complex, too, and vary from the extremes of professional respect and recognizing a common humanity in shared misery to, at the other extreme, fear, loathing and hatred. Victorian soldiers seldom questioned the righteousness of the wars in which they were involved, and while they could often be kind and compassionate towards their enemy, there were times when they very definitely were not, and in those circumstances they often shielded themselves behind the psychological armour of their white skins and the perceived virtue of their beliefs. Sometimes, like soldiers in all wars across the world and across the ages, they expressed their prejudices forthrightly, and acted upon them; some of this will at times become apparent through the voices in this book. It should go without saying that some of these expressions may be uncomfortable to the modern reader, and so perhaps they should; they do not express the views of the author because the past is always another country, and they did indeed do things differently there.


This book has grown out of my long-standing fascination with British military involvement with African societies in southern Africa during the Victorian era; it has taken me down some winding roads elsewhere, and it’s difficult to pick apart the strands of obligation since I’ve learned much about the Victorian soldier from my interest in the Anglo-Zulu War. Some individuals still deserve a mention, like the late ‘SB’ Bouquin and Professor John Laband, fellow travellers in the field of Zulu history, whilst others, like Michael Barthorp, Ian Bennet and Peter Walton, helped me in the early days of my navigation of the complexities of the Victorian military and its closed world. I have benefited for fifty years of association with the Victorian Military Society, and with institutions like the National Army Museum, and a score of regimental museums whose curators have been unfailingly patient and helpful. Practical thanks are due to my editor at Macmillan, Ingrid Connell, and my agent, Andrew Lownie, both of whom had to put up with long – long – periods when I lost my way and with my own realization that for Macmillan this was undoubtedly ‘my difficult second album’. And to a greater degree, of course, my wife Carolyn has had to put up with all my self-indulgent agonizing about this and all my other projects, and without her Warriors in Scarlet could not have made its last march.










CHAPTER ONE





‘Look at the Lion’


BOSSENDEN WOOD, KENT, MAY 1838





Late in the morning of Thursday 31 May 1838 a young man on a horse arrived rather breathlessly at the infantry barracks on the outskirts of the city of Canterbury, in Kent. The rider’s name was Edward Curling, and he was the son of a prosperous farmer from the countryside a few miles west, near Boughton-under-Blean and the villages straddling Watling Street, the old Roman road to London. Curling had a written warrant from a rural magistrate addressed to the commander of the garrison. He was taken before the senior officer and explained that there was a disturbance in the countryside – and that the warrant he carried was an instruction for the military to turn out as quickly as possible as an aid to the civil power.


To the 45th Regiment, stationed at the barracks, the news must have come as something of a surprise. True, social unrest had not been uncommon thus far in the nineteenth century, but the spring of 1838 had given no clues of impending unrest sufficiently worrying to trouble the regular soldiers. There had been no outbreaks of incendiarism, of threats to unpopular landowners, or attacks on the agricultural machinery which so many rural labourers had regarded as a danger to their livelihoods. Life in the countryside around Canterbury, indeed, seemed to be passing in the same hard rhythms it always had.


For many of the soldiers, as the news passed around the barracks, the prospect of a sudden call to arms must have offered the unexpected hope of a lively distraction from the dreary routines of peacetime soldiering at home. The 45th had returned to England just two months earlier after twenty years of service in the colonies, and could expect to remain in Canterbury for a decade or more, with little hope of excitement or adventure except in the event of a foreign invasion – which, in 1838, with France returned to a monarchy and not yet recovered from Napoleon’s defeat, seemed unlikely.


The regiment had spent much of its time in India. It had last seen action in 1824 when it took part in the First Anglo-Burmese War – the first in a series of clashes with the Kingdom of Ava, on the middle reaches of the Irrawaddy River, fought to secure control of India’s eastern approaches. That campaign had not been a comfortable experience, for they had taken to the steaming jungles and suffocating heat of Burma in uniforms that had differed only in detail from those worn at Waterloo a decade before. They wore tight red ‘coatees’ – cut off at the waist at the front but with short tails behind, decorated with coloured regimental ‘facings’ on the collar and cuffs, and festooned with white lace – and a tall leather headdress known as a shako, the regimental brass badge and fastenings protected by an oilskin cover against the Burmese mists. Under their chin they wore – and they particularly hated this – a black leather stock which was designed to correct their posture, to keep their chins up, and which inevitably chafed at their throats. The sharp corners of the knapsack, reinforced by a wooden frame, dug into their back, and the straps that supported it pulled so tightly across their chests that it constricted their breathing. Even so, they had waded through swamps and stormed bamboo stockades, and more experience than just the eight-week sea-voyage home had separated their memories of the East from the world of English fields and church spires.


For some, who had enlisted in the army in their teens and had spent most of their adult lives overseas, England was little more than the longed-for memory from their boyhood. Many, no doubt, were happy to be free of the climate of the subcontinent, of the suffocating heat and monsoon rains, and of the exotic array of diseases which threatened always to incapacitate or kill them. And perhaps some of them had had their fill of Indian mistresses and dancing-girls, and looked forward instead to reacquainting themselves with the rosy-cheeked country girls or their more knowing city sisters who haunted the blue-remembered hills and lost innocence of their adolescent years.


However life in a home garrison had soon settled down to a crushing routine, of the same daily round of parade-ground drill and monotonous food, of nights spent in cramped, claustrophobic and insanitary barracks, and of rigid deference to an authority which could inflict a brutal retribution if crossed.


Yet if Edward Curling’s warrant held some prospect of excitement that spring morning, the bulk of the 45th were in for a disappointment, despite the fact that the tale he told was certainly an extraordinary one. A man calling himself Sir William Courtenay had been roaming the countryside north of Watling Street for several days preaching apocalyptic sermons that promised a Judgement Day for the rich and privileged, his words sending a chill through the gentry and comfortable farming classes. He had persuaded a band of labourers to abandon their lawful employment and follow him; although exactly what he intended was unclear, they were roaming menacingly through the fields. When they were seen to linger suspiciously near a bean-stack, the collective nerve of the local landowners – who had bitter experience of arson as an expression of workers’ discontent – snapped. A warrant was issued for Courtenay’s arrest, and when a constable tracked him down that morning to serve it, shots were fired – and murder committed. Even so, on hearing this the commanding officer of the 45th judged that a company-sized detachment – just 100 men – should be sufficient to meet the magistrate’s needs, and a Major Armstrong was ordered to make it ready. The rest would have to remain in the barracks.


It was lunchtime by the time the troops set off west along Watling Street. The road soon left the outskirts of the city and began to rise up through the gentle downland, through a patchwork quilt of fields stitched together with ancient hedgerows, past dark clumps of woodland and rising church spires, all of which must have seemed reassuring and still after so long in the exotic and teeming East. In the light of the urgency of the magistrate’s request, soldiers did not march but travelled in style, bundled into carts, and with Armstrong and his officers – a Captain Reid and two lieutenants, Bennett and Prendergast – riding in a carriage at the head of the column.


As they reached a local high-point called Boughton Hill the Red Lion inn came into view to the right of the road, where the local magistrates had established their headquarters after dispatching Edward Curling to fetch the soldiers. There was a considerable crowd outside, all drawn by the news of the Courtenay outbreak, and Armstrong ordered his men to stand easy by the side of the road as he sought someone in authority. What his men thought of the unfolding drama is not recorded – and certainly it would have occurred to no one to ask them – but for Lieutenant Henry Boswell Bennett, a twenty-nine-year-old Irishman, the next hour was destined to bring a wholly unwelcome place in the history books.


Armstrong found several local magistrates gathered at the inn, and the story they had to tell him was an extraordinary one. This Sir William Courtenay, it seemed, was a man with a past, already well known in Canterbury and the surrounding countryside. He had first appeared quite suddenly in the city itself in the autumn of 1832 under the flamboyant guise of Count Moses Rostopchein Rothschild. He was vague about his origins but hinted that he was an East European nobleman forced into exile. He referred obliquely to a vast wealth left behind, and whilst he seldom showed evidence of it his colourful manner and charismatic personality seemed to earn him apparently limitless credit. A big, powerful man with long, lustrous black locks, a flowing beard, intense eyes and an eccentric dress-sense, he very quickly established himself in Canterbury’s inns as a character of note, holding forth on the political issues of the day and attracting an eager audience. Then, one day, he shrugged off the persona of Count Rothschild which, he declared, had only ever been a cover: he was in fact, he said, Sir William Percy Honeywood Courtenay, heir to the earldom of Devon and to magnificent family estates in Kent, and a last surviving member of an obscure order of chivalry, the Knights of Malta. Anyone perplexed enough by this sudden transformation to question it – and there seem to have been few enough of them – would discover that the real Sir William Courtenay had not previously been seen for several years having apparently slipped into exile following a scandal, and that the claim to his title and estates had been long dormant.


For all his pretensions, this Sir William had the common touch. At a time when English society was profoundly changing, as the age-old patterns and structures of an essentially rural lifestyle and economy crumpled under threat of a brash and insecure new order of machinery, of capitalist enterprise, and teeming cities, Courtenay seemed able to articulate the fears and resentments of the Kentish poor. He spoke of the iniquities of the Poor Laws which kept rural workers on the edge of destitution, and railed against the privilege of wealthy landowners and of the merchants and town elders who supported their interests. At a time when life for ordinary people was hard and drab, Courtenay brought an extraordinary touch of glamour to Canterbury, and with it a touch of hope. Magnetic and charismatic, he seemed to conjure crowds from nowhere and hold them spellbound with his oratory – so much so that in December 1832 he stood as a parliamentary candidate for a city ward. That his star had risen so far was itself a reflection of deep divisions within the city. Despite the recent passage of the Great Reform Act, which had abolished most of the corrupt ‘pocket boroughs’, the vote was only available to men holding property worth £10 (only about 2,000 out of Canterbury’s total population of 15,000 were entitled to vote) and their support was notoriously liable to influence by bribery, threat or chicanery. In 1832 Canterbury was leaning heavily towards the reformist Whig party – Courtenay was invited to stand by hard-pressed Tory interests who saw him as a stalking horse to split the progressive vote.


Courtenay threw himself into the fray with gusto, speaking each day from the balcony of the Rose Inn to a large crowd who gathered to hear him. If his manifesto had more than a touch of a rallying-cry in defence of a passing order – a rose-tinted vision of Olde England in which the powers of landowners and mill-owners were rolled back, in which jobs were available to all those who sought them, wages were fair, and there might be ‘a return to the good old days of roast beef and mutton and plenty of prime, nut-brown ale’1 – there was underlying it a dangerous edge of real radicalism. ‘Every man who is willing to serve his country’, he declared,




by the laws of England from eighteen to forty-five, is entitled to vote openly, manly and without fear. Sir William Courtenay will prove this fundamental principle that universal suffrage and annual parliament are the only just rights of true-born Englishmen.2





At a time when even the most progressive reformers baulked at the thought of universal male suffrage, this was an unsettling prospectus indeed, the more so as Courtenay railed against ‘the stockjobbing business of the Bank of England’ and the ‘landlord and parson’, who derived their comfortable lifestyle riding the backs of ‘the working classes and poor of the land’.3 For a few weeks Sir William Percy Honeywood Courtenay was the best show in town, pulling in crowds of several hundred, and holding them transfixed by his oratory; alas, and perhaps inevitably, these crowds were not made up of the privileged city freemen, who proved rather more careful in bestowing their votes. Although his showing in the ballot was by no means contemptible, he was nonetheless roundly trounced by his more conventional opponents.


His defeat marked the start of a period of sharp decline in his fortunes. At first he brushed it off, working the sympathy of his supporters throughout the city’s inns, and he turned instead to radical journalism, producing an outspoken broadsheet he named The Lion. Yet an ill-judged attempt to champion the cause of seven Faversham men accused of smuggling – they had been caught red-handed by a Revenue cutter at sea, trying to dump illegal spirits overboard – led to a sudden breakdown. Speaking on their behalf in court Courtenay gave testimony which was so patently false that not only were the seven smugglers all convicted but Courtenay himself was arrested for perjury. Although he still commanded the support of the crowd, who gathered every day outside Canterbury gaol to noisily protest his innocence, at least one of his admirers began to reconsider his allegiance and to ponder the fate of outstanding debts owed to him – and Courtenay found a charge of embezzlement added to his woes. He attempted to defend himself before the bench with all the extravagance of a wronged stage hero, much to the irritation of judge and jury alike; he was found guilty, and sentenced to be transported to Australia for seven years. It was a severe sentence, even by the standards of the day, and was perhaps an indication of just how far Sir William had tried the patience of Canterbury’s establishment.


Before the sentence could be carried out, however, there was a further bizarre twist to the story. Courtenay was lodged in Maidstone gaol pending deportation, and here a woman appeared at the gates begging to be allowed to see him. Her name was Catherine Tom, and she had been convinced by the publicity surrounding the case that the prisoner was no Knight of Malta but rather her husband – a native of Cornwall named John Nichols Tom. John Tom had been a successful small businessman in Cornwall, a malter and wine merchant, until unsettled by a series of misfortunes – his business premises in Truro had burned down and his mother had suffered such an extreme mental breakdown that she had been committed to a lunatic asylum where she died shortly afterwards. John Tom had descended into depression, becoming morose and withdrawn, until one day in 1832 he had left Cornwall for Liverpool on business, and had not been seen again. Mrs Tom was able to describe her missing husband minutely to the superintendent, and when Courtenay was brought before her there was no doubt. Quite why or how John Tom had transformed himself into a series of extravagant alter egos remains unclear, but sufficient doubt hung over his mental health that Catherine Tom had applied to have doctors examine her husband with a view to declaring him clinically insane. And if a declaration of madness was then – and has been since – a convenient means of stifling a voice of protest, at least under the laws of the day anyone sentenced for a crime and subsequently proved to be of unsound mind was spared their sentence in favour of committal to an asylum. In October 1833 Sir William Courtenay – John Nichols Tom, alias Count Moses Rothschild – was formally transferred to the Kent County Lunatic Asylum at Barming.


And there he remained for three years. He seemed resigned to his predicament and was a model patient, enthusiastically joining the activities organized for the poor damaged inmates, and he excelled in the asylum cricket team. By the spring of 1837 the authorities regarded him as no longer a threat – of any sort – to society, and were prepared to consider his release.


The timing was by no means coincidental. On 20 June 1837 King William IV died, ending the succession of the Hanoverians who had ruled both Britain and Hanover since 1714 – with no male heirs, the British crown passed to William’s young niece, Princess Victoria, who had recently turned eighteen years old. Since Salic law, which barred a female succession, prevailed in Hanover the Hanoverian crown passed to her uncle instead, and the direct link between the two kingdoms was broken. Britain seemed poised on the brink of a new era of youth and optimism, unfettered by old international constraints and foreign attitudes, and embodied in the person of Victoria herself. The young Queen had grown to adulthood under the influence of her surrogate father-figure, the great Whig Prime Minister Lord Melbourne, and she seemed to embody the national yearning for a new liberalism and, from the first, had confidence in her own opinions. When her state carriage passed through the streets of London on the way to her coronation a year later, on 28 June 1838, vast crowds – as many as 400,000 people – gathered to watch and cheer, and it seemed that both at home and in her possessions overseas Britain was about to march boldly forth into a bright new future of liberal idealism and progress.


The coronation itself was a curiously faltering affair almost undermined by an uncertain grasp of precedent and the absence of a dry run, yet redeemed by the determination of the young Queen herself. When the Archbishop of Canterbury placed the coronation ring on the wrong finger, Victoria, after a brief struggle, simply removed it herself and put it on the right one; when an elderly courtier, Lord Rollo, stumbled on the steps below the throne, Victoria herself rose to help him up. The young Benjamin Disraeli commented that it seemed ‘always in doubt as to what came next, and you saw the want of rehearsal’.


A want of rehearsal indeed; Victoria’s reign would last for sixty-four years, and push Britain in directions unimagined in the summer of 1837, and which would include among them some of Britain’s finest hours – and some of its worst.


The Queen’s accession ushered in new hope, too, for John Nichols Tom. A new monarch required a new parliament, and in the elections which followed, Tom’s father, a freeman of Truro, traded – ironically, given his son’s position on electoral reform – his vote in return for a promise to investigate John’s case, and the Home Secretary, Lord John Russell, agreed to offer John Tom a pardon. It was granted in October 1837 in the name of William Courtenay, and was conditional upon Tom being taken into care by his family or their representatives.


In fact, because of the distance between Truro and Canterbury, Courtenay was released not to his immediate family but, with their approval, into the care of a Mr Francis, a farmer of Boughton-under-Blean. Francis had been a supporter of Sir William in his Canterbury days, and it seemed that his misadventures since then had not shaken Francis’ faith. At the end of 1837, even as the new Queen was preparing the ground for her formal coronation, Courtenay moved to Fairbrook, Francis’ farm, and entered the quiet, claustrophobic and socially stultified world of early Victorian rural life.


It was never likely to contain him for long, and within a few months he took to roaming the countryside, striking up conversations with the farm labourers he met along the way. Ten years earlier the area had suffered a number of violent outbreaks directed against the introduction of new threshing machines – which many labourers saw as a threat to their livelihood – and the harsh punishments which had followed had added a bitter edge to the prevailing resentment against the Poor Laws. Courtenay’s old populist instinct returned, and he railed against the oppression of the landowners who paid working men a derisory wage and refused to offer continuity of employment. From somewhere he procured a light-grey horse and he began touring the fields at sunset, preaching apocalyptic sermons to workers going home from the fields, promising not merely political change but a divine intervention on their behalf. When, one day, Courtenay returned to Fairbrook sporting a brace of pistols, Francis took fright and barred him from his home – and Courtenay embarked upon the last and most tragic stage of his extraordinary journey. Cut free from any notion of restraint, he moved from the home of one local supporter to another and took on a new, and even more daring persona – that of the reincarnated Jesus Christ himself, sent to earth to free the benighted labourers of Kent from their bondage. At the end of his sunset sermons, in which he promised to bring the stars falling from the skies, he




fired his pistol . . . loaded with tow and particles of iron into the air, and as the bright particles descended, a strain of music was heard in the distance. This appears to have been a skilful device contrived for the occasion, the music really proceeding from a flute played by one of his adherents concealed in the wood.4





The effect, it seems, was electric. ‘Oh, sir,’ said one afterwards who heard him preach,




he was an awful man. He had a tongue which an unlarned person could not get over. His threats were so terrible – they made the heart quake. He could turn men which way he liked, if they only once listened to him.5





Inevitably he had, by this time, begun to arouse the suspicion of the authorities, and in particular of Francis’ fellow landowners, who watched his extravagant charade with growing concern. By the third week of May 1838 Courtenay’s mental state was, in retrospect, entering a dangerously manic phase, encouraged by his success in persuading a small group of farm-workers to join his cause. He began to march about the countryside in earnest, calling on the poor to flock to him; one of his men carried an embroidered banner displaying a lion rampant – a relic of his Canterbury days – whilst another held aloft a loaf of bread impaled on a pole, a traditional promise of plenty to come. Yet the loaf had another meaning too, as an emblem used by army recruiting sergeants – Sir William Courtenay was marshalling his forces. By this time he had abandoned the extravagant costumes he had often sported to impress the crowd, and instead wore a farm-worker’s smock and straw hat to demonstrate his solidarity with the oppressed. In his belt, however, he thrust his two pistols and a sword. Yet although at times his following reached as many as a hundred, less than half of them were fervent in his cause, and they remained a rather tawdry army, for only one of them owned a musket, and the rest carried wooden cudgels. Worse, most of them hailed from the countryside immediately around Boughton-under-Blean, where he had become well known, and very few in the surrounding area seemed inclined to treat him as anything other than a passing entertainment. If Judgement Day were indeed to come, Sir William Courtenay – like many a cult leader since – was discovering that he needed something rather more dramatic to provoke it. He needed it, moreover, quickly – before the fervour of his supporters began to drain away.


The confrontation he desired came about through the intervention of a farmer, a Mr Curling, Edward’s father. Several of Curling’s labourers had left their work to join the march, and Curling had first gone to him to protest but, being met by Sir William with a fury that unsettled him, Curling had lodged a complaint with a magistrate instead, insisting that Courtenay had illegally seduced his workers from their contracts. It was the first time since he had arrived in the countryside that Courtenay had been accused of breaking the law, and it is difficult to avoid the conclusion that the Boughton landowners were pleased to finally have an excuse to restrain him.


On the evening of 30 May a warrant was issued for Courtenay’s arrest, and at first light the following morning the Constable of Boughton-under-Blean, John Mears, set off to enforce it. Mears took with him back-up in the form of his brother, Nicholas, and his assistant constable, Daniel Edwards.


Mears found that Courtenay and his followers had spent the night at Bossenden Farm, the home of one of his supporters, which lay in the woods close to Watling Street and the Red Lion inn. It was still early when they approached the farm but Mears noticed that one of Courtenay’s followers was standing outside, as if on guard, and hurried in at their approach. A few minutes later Sir William emerged, walking straight up to them and demanding to know if they were constables. Both the Mears brothers replied yes – although in fact Nicholas Mears was not appointed as such – and before they could react further Courtenay pulled out one of the pistols in his belt, pointed it at Nicholas Mears, and fired. Mears fell, shot through the body, and the sound of the shot echoed around the farmyard like the crack of doom it was. John Mears and Daniel Edwards stood rooted to the spot, paralysed by the unexpected turn of events, and so did Courtenay’s followers, who had emerged into the farmyard at the sound of the commotion. Then Courtenay drew his sword and stepped forward – and the spell was broken. The surviving constables were unarmed and promptly turned and fled, scrambling over a paling fence and making for the neighbouring woods. Courtenay watched them go, and as he turned back towards the farm buildings he heard Nicholas Mears, still alive, groaning for help. Seized by a sudden fit of rage, Courtenay cut at him as he lay on the ground before pulling out his second pistol and, standing over Mears, shot him squarely between the shoulder blades. His followers stood watching him in stunned and horrified silence.


News of the murder of Nicholas Mears passed quickly through the small communities nearby. In a few short minutes Courtenay had transformed himself from a colourful eccentric to a murderer, an armed rebel, a dangerous revolutionary. As local magistrates hurried to Bossenden Farm to investigate, one of them wisely despatched Edward Curling to Canterbury barracks to call out the military in support.


Courtenay met those magistrates – all of course men of influence and comfortable means – in a field of willow-saplings to which he had retired after killing Nicholas Mears. After the murder one or two of his supporters had taken the opportunity to slip away but the rest had given themselves up entirely to his will, apparently overawed, and he had marched them to this new position in the hope that the willow-beds would prove good defensive ground. It did not escape the magistrates’ notice that Courtenay’s appearance was deliberately martial:




round his waist [he wore] a leathern belt, with a brace of pistols and a sword in a steel scabbard. He had suspended from his neck a trumpet. He desired the men to fall in by threes, as soldiers, they did so; he also told them to look at the lion, and to have hearts as fierce, also to be as hard as hearts of oak; he then sounded the trumpet, bidding them to ‘go on, boys’ . . .6





There followed a curious stand-off. Courtenay had chosen his ground with a flooded ditch running across his front in the hope that this might disrupt the counter-attack by the forces of law and order; but the magistrates were not equipped for an armed confrontation, and instead they harangued him and his followers from a safe distance. For a minute Courtenay seemed to contemplate an attack of his own – but in the end he merely fired his pistols ineffectually in frustration and promptly ordered his followers to retire to the sanctuary of Bossenden Farm.


This was the situation when Major Armstrong arrived at the Red Lion with his detachment of the 45th Regiment. After a briefing from the magistrates the Major – who was a punctilious man, and clearly aware of the consequences of misusing military might in a civil situation – insisted that one of them read the Riot Act. This called upon those gathered together illegally to disperse and, thereby relieved of the legal consequences of any action he might take, Armstrong set to with a plan. Courtenay’s men were apparently still in the vicinity of Bossenden Farm so, after hearing a description of the terrain, he decided to contain them with an encircling movement. He split his command in two, sending the smaller detachment under Captain Reid, and accompanied by the two lieutenants, up a track leading directly to the farmhouse itself. The remainder he would lead himself, marching them up a lane which marked the boundary of the farm property a few hundred yards to the left. As he appointed his men some of the crowd seemed inclined to follow him but Armstrong, unwilling to be hampered by them, tried to put them off with the simple assurance that if they followed along he would consider them volunteers under his command, and liable to assist in any ruckus that followed. Some were more than willing to take that chance.


It was by now mid-afternoon. The air had been sultry and oppressive all morning, and as the soldiers marched to their positions a sudden sharp thunderstorm with marvellous timing broke overhead. The heavens opened, though not perhaps as Sir William had intended, and the rain soaked the participants in this surreal drama and drove the crowd outside the Red Lion within. Then, as suddenly as it had begun, the storm passed. By this time Captain Reid had reached Bossenden Farm, and found that Courtenay’s party had withdrawn into a clearing in the woods a few hundred yards beyond. Reid deployed some of his men along the fences surrounding the farmyard, to secure the buildings and prevent Courtenay’s return, and then ordered the two lieutenants to take the rest of his detachment into the wood. They were to sweep round to the right and extend a cordon on the far side of Courtenay’s position. Reid had thereby surrounded Courtenay on three sides – and he waited now upon the arrival of the major’s party to complete the encirclement.


The soldiers must have presented a vivid splash of colour as they took up their positions in the wet undergrowth. They were dressed much as they had been in Burma, the men in red coatees, white trousers and shakos, and their officers wearing long dark-blue undress frock coats and forage caps. Now they were not facing Burmese soldiers in the rainforests along the Irrawaddy, however, but a band of their own countrymen against the soft background of an English wood in springtime.


Sir William, meanwhile, was troubled, at this critical moment, by the attention of a woman whose husband was among his men. She had followed them as they left the farm and took up their position, loudly begging Courtenay to release him. But Sir William could not allow any defections at this stage, and he must by this time have seen the soldiers making their approach, so he had angrily shrugged her off and driven her away into the trees with the threat that he would shoot her. She had hardly gone when Lieutenant Bennett’s men emerged from the undergrowth and struggled into a line between the trees. Courtenay spotted them and turned to his followers, calling out, ‘Come on, my men! Come on! Don’t prove yourselves cowards!’ The soldiers halted and Lieutenant Bennett stepped in front of them; on the far side of the clearing, behind Courtenay’s party, Major Armstrong’s men were also coming into view. Armstrong’s men were, in fact, a few minutes later than the major had anticipated – ominously, they had stopped in the lane to load their muskets with ball cartridge.


Seeing themselves surrounded, two of Courtenay’s followers had a sudden crisis of faith and broke away into the trees. Sir William, however, ignored both them and Armstrong’s men and strode instead towards Lieutenant Bennett with the same furious determination he had displayed towards Nicholas Mears. As he walked he pulled a pistol and his sword out of his belt. The two were now only a few yards apart when Bennett also drew his sword and seemed poised to say something; before he had the chance Courtenay pointed his pistol at him and shot him through the chest. Bennett’s sword swished ineffectually through the air – and he fell to the ground.


A groan of surprise and anger ran through the soldiers behind him. Major Armstrong saw Bennett fall and called out to a magistrate for permission to fire – but it was in any case too late for niceties. The shot had had an electric effect on all those within the clearing, and Sir William and his followers at once surged forward. Over the din of the shouting Major Armstrong gave his order, and a ragged volley crashed out along two sides of the clearing. Sir William was among the first to fall, hit by several bullets at once, and next to him one of his followers also fell dead. Another, George Griggs, was hit in the abdomen and fell sideways into a ditch, vainly clutching at his stomach as his intestines spilled out. A man named William Foad was shot in the mouth, the ball carrying away his chin and the charge blackening his face. A volunteer constable with the soldiers, a civilian named George Catt, was standing close to Lieutenant Bennett when a musket ball caught him in the cheek and killed him, too. As a cloud of white gun smoke rolled through the clearing, some of Sir William’s followers reached Bennett’s men and a fierce melee broke out; only one of them had a gun, but the rest were armed with cudgels and staves, and the troops, who had no time to reload, met them with the butts of their muskets. Lieutenant Prendergast saw someone striking at Bennett’s body on the ground and stooped over him to protect his body, only to be felled himself by a flurry of blows. For a few minutes the clearing was a seething mass of struggling figures, and any man who fell was kicked or beaten – Major Armstrong would later report that ‘he never saw men evince more determination in his life’.7 Seeing that the troops were not able to fire again, Armstrong called out for them to fix bayonets. Those troops who were not involved in brawling obeyed him, and the sound of the rasping of metal – of all it portended – seems finally to have deflated the courage of Courtenay’s followers, who began to turn and run for the gaps between the troops and into the trees. The soldiers started to run after them – as they passed Courtenay’s body they kicked him and jabbed at him with bayonets – but Armstrong, not wanting to lose them in the wood, ordered his bugler to sound the ceasefire. As the shrill notes faded away a sudden silence returned to the clearing, broken only by the groans of the wounded and by the laboured breathing of all involved.


Sir William lay sprawled, the front of his smock soaked in blood, at the centre of a knot of wounded and dying men. He was dead, and so too were seven of his followers; another, mortally wounded, would die the following day. Six more had been shot or battered by the soldiers, while on the other side Lieutenant Bennett was dead, and so too was the volunteer constable, Catt. Lieutenant Prendergast was badly beaten, Armstrong himself had been struck with a cudgel, and many of the soldiers had cuts and bruises. Over sixty rounds had been fired in a fight which had lasted no more than a few minutes. Most of Courtenay’s fleeing followers were rounded up before they could escape the wood.


As the captives were brought before Major Armstrong he formally handed them over to the civil power. Courtenay’s lion banner was found on the field, as were a number of his possessions including a leather pouch full of pistol-shot. Someone had escaped with his pistols, however: they were spirited away and kept hidden from the authorities for almost exactly a century. Then, when the government called for all civilian firearms to be surrendered in the face of the threat of Nazi invasion, they were handed in – and were dumped unceremoniously into Ramsgate harbour. The bodies of the dead were collected together, and that evening Lieutenant Bennett was placed on a wicker hurdle and carried to the Red Lion, where he was laid in one of the upstairs bedrooms. He was a ‘small, handsome-featured, dark-haired young man’, twenty-five years old, and at least one of those who saw the gunshot wound in his body and the mark of a blow on his temple was moved to fury by evidence of ‘this base and brutal outrage’.8 A guard was placed over the bodies of Courtenay and his followers as they lay in the wood overnight, and at first light next morning they too were carried to the inn, where they were laid out on the straw of the stables. If anyone was struck by the symbolism of a would-be messiah lying dead in a manger they were wise enough to keep it to themselves. There was a scramble for souvenirs from the fresh crowd that had gathered – Courtenay’s bloody smock was torn to pieces and clumps of his matted hair cut off.


For a week the authorities struggled to contain the aftermath. An inquest decided that Nicholas Mears and Lieutenant Bennett had both been unlawfully killed whilst the constable Catt had been accidentally shot by the soldiers during the performance of their duties – he had been caught in the cross-fire when Major Armstrong’s party had opened fire. The verdict on Sir William and his followers was unambiguous: justifiable homicide. As reports in the press spread the strange tale of the battle in Bossenden Wood it became a sensation, and crowds made the trip out from Canterbury to the scene daily. A few, wealthy as well as curious, came from as far as London, and some estimates put the total number of sightseers over the following weeks as high as 20,000. So strong was the public interest that for a while the authorities feared Sir William might have become a martyr in a cult of his own making, and they toyed with the idea of burying him secretly elsewhere in the country. In the event, however, it was decided that both he and his followers should be buried in the local churchyard at Hernhill. The news brought a last flurry of those desperate to see for themselves his corpse, despite that ‘decomposition had commenced, and it now presented a loathsome picture of decay’.9


The funerals finally took place on 5 June. The vicar, outraged by Courtenay’s blasphemies, hurried quickly through the service, and insisted that his grave, at least, was left unmarked. For a week afterwards a watch was kept over it; his support in the community had been wider than just those bold enough to follow him into battle, and some still hoped that, as he had promised, he would yet rise from the grave. Nothing happened.


Two months after the battle Courtenay’s surviving followers, captured in Bossenden Wood, were put on trial, some of them, like William Foad, still bearing their ghastly wounds. Sixteen men were initially arrested and nine of these were tried for the murder of the constable, Nicholas Mears, and for the death of Lieutenant Bennett. All of them were convicted and three of them were sentenced to death, although the sentences were immediately commuted to transportation for life to Australia. The remaining six men were imprisoned for one year with hard labour. All together, in just a few short and desperate minutes, seventeen men had been snatched out of the close-knit rural communities around Boughton, eleven of them dead and the rest imprisoned. They left behind them five widows, eight wives and no less than forty-nine children, all of whom at a stroke were deprived of any means of support beyond the workhouse.


Lieutenant Bennett’s body was moved, with rather more respect than that accorded to Sir William, to Canterbury, and on 2 June 1838 it was laid to rest with full military honours within the grounds of Canterbury Cathedral. Over 6,000 spectators turned out to pay their respects. The Cathedral Chapter waived its standing ban on firing guns within the precincts, and three volleys were fired over the grave.


Later, a brass plaque in his memory was placed on the wall of the cathedral nave – it is still there today. Erected by his fellow officers of the 45th, it reflects on the ‘melancholy loss of an amiable and esteemed companion’, who ‘fell in the strict and manly discharge of his duties’.


Yet this modest memorial does not mark Lieutenant Henry Boswell Bennett’s true distinction. As his grieving father – himself a major retired on half-pay – was to point out to the government, he was the first British officer to die in action during the reign of the new queen, Victoria.


He would not be the last, not by a long chalk. It was once said that the sun never set on the British Empire, yet over the course of the next sixty-four years, the full span of Queen Victoria’s reign, the sun would set prematurely on the lives of many thousands of her soldiers, sailors and servants, and cathedrals throughout the full length of her dominions still bear a sad crop of memorials to their passing. Many would die in circumstances no less extraordinary, but most of them a good deal further from home than the shady glades of Kentish woods.


*


The gun smoke had scarcely cleared from Bossenden Wood before the affair was raised in Parliament. The Conservative opposition saw it as a means to embarrass the reformist Whig administration of Lord Melbourne, and in particular the Home Secretary was called to account for his decision to release Courtenay from Barming Asylum. There were dark mutterings about the iniquities of an electoral system in which a franchised city freeman, like Tom’s father, might trade his vote for political influence. There was a genuine concern that Courtenay’s religious delusion had provoked such devotion just a few short miles from Canterbury Cathedral, the very centre of the Established Anglican Church. There was much hand-wringing over the gullibility and ignorance of the rural poor in Kent, and indeed steps were taken both to improve the general level of education in the Boughton-under-Blean area, and to provide greater and more orthodox religious support; in 1840 a new church and village school were built at Dunkirk, in the heart of Courtenay country, and the new incumbent took up his position with the same missionary zeal which characterized the attitudes of his colleagues on the further-flung borders of empire.


Yet the emphasis on Courtenay’s apparent madness and the spiritual intellectual poverty of the Boughton area only served to obscure the deeper causes of the conflict. Lieutenant Bennett and Constable Catt were the victims of the last true peasant revolt on English soil, and the action at Bossenden Wood in fact highlighted the deep fissures which beset British society in the year Victoria became queen – and the ambiguous role of the army within them. To the radical press, the true battle had been between a conservative establishment, the landowners and clergy, protective of their vested interests, and an underclass of rural labourers who were impoverished and deliberately denied access to the means of social mobility. And to radicals and reformers alike, there seemed little doubt that the status quo rested squarely on the bayonets of the British Army. As a leading article in a Kent newspaper put it in the aftermath of Bossenden Wood:




The painful occurrence near Canterbury has given rise to deep inquiries into, and reflection on, the state of our social system . . . whether something be not radically rotten in a community, when men of substance and well-being are so utterly ignorant and superstitious as to believe the word of a raving lunatic – that he is the saviour of the world – and to rush almost wholly unarmed upon treble their number of soldiers armed to the teeth, under the delusion that they were invulnerable! Loudly indeed the blood of these slaughtered beings crieth from the earth. Who has taught them? The Clergy! Who has tithed, fee’d, and church-rated them? The Clergy!! Who has massacred them? A parson-magistrate at the head of a band of armed troops!10





For all that many in Britain cherished the idea that it was an ordered society, its classes enshrined by the weight of tradition – ‘The rich man in his castle’, as Mrs Cecil Alexander put it in her 1848 words to the popular Anglican hymn ‘All Things Bright and Beautiful’, ‘the poor man at this gate; God made them high and lowly, and ordered their estate’ – in fact the nation Queen Victoria inherited was subject to the extraordinary stresses unleashed by the accelerating industrial revolution. The economic transformation of the west Midlands, in particular, had been remarkable and spectacular. The spread of canals in the middle of the eighteenth century, which linked small towns and villages that had been largely isolated and facilitated the rapid and efficient movement of goods, the availability of cotton on the international market from the end of the century, and the invention of the industrial spinning loom had led to a veritable explosion in the textile industry and the rapid growth of Manchester and the surrounding towns. For the first time in its history the economic balance of power within Britain began to swing away from the rural agricultural economy and towards the industrial towns. At the beginning of the nineteenth century as much as 80 per cent of the population was living in the countryside but between 1771 and 1831 the population of Manchester had grown by six times. Some of the new mill workers were economic migrants from Ireland – from 1801 of course a part of the Union with Great Britain – but the rest were drawn from the countryside, their journeys facilitated by the growing railway network. In 1815 Parliament had passed the Corn Laws, fixing the price of corn and protecting the interests of the rural landowners who were then, as they had always been, the dominant force politically – yet just thirty-one years later they would be repealed, to the derisive delight of the industrialists whose influence had toppled them. The cotton mills needed cheap workers and living conditions in the industrial towns were poor. Although some philanthropists and social engineers had developed the concept of model towns, laid out for the comfort, education and health of their occupants, the majority of workers were crammed into new accommodation where economy was the watchword, rows of hastily constructed back-to-back terraced houses without sanitation or even running water, so that England, in particular, became a country of booming slums.


Even so, the hard, dirty, cramped urban life seemed to offer more hope than that in the English countryside, where rural workers were paid no more than a subsistence wage, were hired and fired according to seasonal needs, and there existed no means of support between-times. Yet even this stultified society was not immune from the effects of the industrial revolution, and from the end of the eighteenth century wealthier landowners began to replace workers with mechanical harvesting equipment, initially powered by horses and later – inevitably – by steam. Threshing in particular, the separation of grain from husks and stalks, was traditionally a hard and labour-intensive job, in which gangs of men – as much as 80 per cent of the agricultural labour force in season – beat the corn with flails. Although the investment costs were high in the short term, one threshing machine could do the job of dozens of day-labourers, destroying at a stroke the cycle of employment and driving down wages.


The impact on the rural poor was compounded by the economic recession which followed the end of the decades-long war against the French. The Seven Years War, the Revolutionary Wars and the Napoleonic Wars had largely merged into one and created a market for grain and for manpower that had driven up the value of both in the countryside. Yet Napoleon’s defeat at Waterloo in 1815 had brought the long cycle of conflict to a surprisingly definitive close. In fact it paved the way for British interests to expand unchallenged around the world over the next twenty or thirty years, but the economic benefits of this growth were not immediately apparent and in the short term peace brought unemployment to thousands of soldiers and sailors, and the government’s demand for grain to feed them dwindled. The recession made labour in the countryside cheap – the threshing machines made it dispensable.


These profound changes in the nature of British life produced intolerable strains across both the traditional and developing sectors of society which found outlet in protest. In Manchester the recession and high unemployment levels saw the wages paid to textile workers collapse. Where mill owners were prepared to pay weavers as much as fifteen shillings a week in 1803 they found that in 1818 they could secure all the labour they needed at five shillings a week. The resulting resentment in Manchester was fuelled by the realization that the growth in the city’s size and importance was not matched by any representation at Westminster. Constituency boundaries had been drawn up long before the city’s expansion; only two representatives were sent to Parliament from the whole of Cheshire, and since suffrage was limited to adult males with property rights it tended in any case to favour rural interests. Manchester – and indeed much of the west Midlands – considered itself disenfranchised, and there was a groundswell of popular support for electoral reform.


In 1819 a body styling itself the Manchester Patriotic Committee called for a mass protest meeting and invited the radical reformer James Hunt to attend. The authorities were deeply wary of Hunt, and the meeting was banned before it could take place. The Patriotic Union was not so easily thwarted, however, and rescheduled it to take place on 16 August 1819 at an open space on the outskirts of Manchester called St Peter’s Field. The government reacted by despatching two regular regiments to Manchester – the 15th Hussars and the 88th Foot – and calling out two local militia units, the Cheshire Yeomanry and the Manchester Yeomanry. Hunt, keen not to appear provocative, instructed anyone attending the meeting to come unarmed. In the event, the huge crowd that assembled that morning numbered somewhere between 60,000 and 80,000 men, women and children. Although some of these had undoubtedly come from surrounding towns and the countryside, the majority were from Manchester itself, and the streets of the city were eerily deserted.


The sheer size of the assembled crowd frightened watching magistrates, who sent a force of the Manchester and Salford Yeomanry, together with special constables recruited for the occasion, through the crowd to arrest Hunt and the organizers for sedition. The yeomanry, who one source described as ‘younger members of the Tory party in arms’ and who were certainly representatives of land- and mill-owners opposed to reform, managed to push their way through to serve their warrants but as the temper of the crowd became excited the yeomanry drew their swords. The magistrates, fearing a riot was about to break out, gave the order for the troops to clear the field, and the yeomanry gave up all restraint and charged into the crowd. Some of the exits from the meeting-ground had been blocked by troops or special constables, and as the crowd milled around in confusion the yeomanry slashed at them, and rode their horses over men and women alike. The regulars, for the most part, behaved with professional restraint, and one disgusted member of the regular 15th Hussars was heard to call out, ‘For shame! For shame! Gentlemen: forebear, forebear. The people cannot get away.’11 The yeomanry did not forbear, and by the time St Peter’s Field was cleared at least eleven people were killed and as many as six hundred injured.


The press immediately christened the massacre Peterloo in an ironic reference to Waterloo, fought just four years earlier. The spectacle of troops being employed to cut down their unarmed countrymen produced anger across the country and in fact intensified the pressure for reform, but in the immediate aftermath the authorities responded with a crackdown banning all forms of political gathering.


Discontent was not, however, confined to the burgeoning industrial boom-towns. In 1830, beginning in southern England, there were a series of attacks on threshing machines and the farmers who used them by protestors identifying themselves as followers of a mysterious ‘Captain Swing’. The Swing rioters assaulted unpopular farmers, smashed threshing machines and set fire to hayricks and crops. Kent was particularly badly affected, the first incident occurring there at Lower Hardres in August 1830, and there were no less than six outbreaks in the countryside around Boughton-under-Blean alone. The government, still shuddering at the lessons of the French Revolution, took a stern view of the riots. All together six hundred rioters were arrested, and many of those tried and convicted were sentenced to transportation to Australia. Some of those found guilty of the most serious offences were hanged. Yet whilst the authorities were deeply suspicious of the networks and associations they were convinced underpinned the anonymous Swing actions, they never managed to fully expose them, and many who took part in the Swing disturbances remained unidentified. No doubt in the countryside around Boughton-under-Blean more than one of them listened to Sir William preach his sermons of apocalyptic revolution, and perhaps threw in their lot with him. Certainly the landowners there had long memories of Captain Swing – and these had shaped their tense response to Courtenay’s progress through the bean-stacks.


Other, less direct, attempts to resist the steady impoverishment of the rural working class were met with equal ruthlessness. In 1834 six labourers in the Dorset village of Tolpuddle formed a ‘Friendly Society of Agricultural Labourers’ and swore secret oaths to support one another. In particular, at a time when labourers’ wages had been forced down to six shillings a week, they determined not to work for less than ten. The formation of trade unions had been illegal but the legislation had recently been repealed so they had broken no laws in forming the Society; both the authorities and employers, however, remained deeply suspicious of secret oaths, and when a local farmer complained the six were arrested under an obscure and archaic law which still forbade them. All six were convicted and sentenced to transportation. Yet the palpable injustice of the case and the undoubted overreaction of the authorities – the ‘Tolpuddle martyrs’ had committed no act of violence, nor threatened to do so – had furthered a prevailing suspicion that the law was in the pockets of the landowners and mill-owners. There were widespread protests, and a petition organized on their behalf raised an extraordinary 800,000 signatures. In 1836, just two years after their transportation, and two years before the Bossenden affair, they were released under the authority of the Home Secretary Lord John Russell – the same man who, a year later, would sanction the release of Sir William Courtenay from Barming Asylum.


In Ireland the same conflicts were played out with an added viciousness, the result of centuries of English attempts to dominate and control the native Irish. By the 1830s Ireland was experiencing much the same economic troubles in the countryside as England except that whilst many of the great estate-owners belonged to the ‘Protestant Ascendancy’, the majority of the rural poor, who provided the labour force, were Gaelic-speaking Catholics. Although Irish Catholics were allowed to practise their religion following the Catholic Emancipation Act of 1829, it was the Established Church of Ireland which had the right to collect tithes, the traditional Church taxes which essentially funded the clergy. Many rural communities bitterly resented paying tithes, not merely because of their economic burden, but because they supported a Protestant Church which was held to be symptomatic of an alien culture and political domination. Throughout the 1830s there were widespread protests against tithes, encouraged and supported by Catholic clergy, and these became so severe that they are remembered today as the ‘Tithe War’. When the authorities deployed the Irish constabulary to collect tithes by force they were often met with violent resistance. In June 1831 at Bunclody the constabulary fired on an angry crowd and killed twelve and wounded twenty more. Across 1831 there were more than two hundred murders and hundreds of arson attacks, assaults, riots, cattle-maimings, and attacks on property connected to the resistance movement which culminated in December in a massacre at Carrickshock. A police force attempting to collect tithes was ambushed in a narrow country lane and twelve of them – including the Chief Constable – were killed. As late as May 1834 nineteen resisters were killed and thirty-five wounded in a further clash at Rathcormack. The war only ended when the British Parliament passed the Tithe Commutation Act for Ireland in 1838 which restricted the amount payable to the Church of Ireland.


Stripped of its gloss of messianic delusion, and of the strange, manic figure of Courtenay himself, the Battle of Bossenden Wood emerges not as an aberration, but as a symptom of the deep and destructive divisions which beset British society along the length and breadth of the country in the year of the coronation of the new young Queen, Victoria.


And lurking in the shadows of it all is the Red Coat, that complex and contradictory icon, at once the hero of Waterloo and the defender of British liberty abroad in the face of foreign tyrannies – and at home the villain of Peterloo, the blood-bespattered running-dog of oppressive industrialists, landowners, and their Parliamentary agents.


Yet there is still one final contradiction to note before we move on. Whilst public opinion about Sir William’s followers remained split along predictable lines, more than one commentator was moved to support Major Armstrong’s assessment of their fighting abilities. Whether they were religious dupes, the oppressed poor tormented beyond endurance or merely the unleashed sons of anarchy, they had at least been English, and in them one observer saw evidence of the nation’s rawest military virtue, of men who were ‘victorious against vast odds of numbers, and of arms, and even with incapable leaders.’ ‘Nor do I believe’ he went on,




there has ever been an instance in which a savage race, when they could get at them hand to hand, have not been beaten by our men, unless absolutely overwhelmed by numbers . . . The Kentish ploughmen who followed the impostor Tom, opposing their sticks to the muskets and bayonets of a far more numerous body of soldiers, exhibited a much greater instance of courage than has ever been evinced by any foreign race. True, they were fanatics, but amongst what other fanatics, however besotted, can we discover such a manifestation of unflinching daring and nerve?12





It was a smug observation that could perhaps have been forgiven in those first decades after Waterloo, when the world seemed open to the British without challenge, and when encounters with enemies armed with firearms were still rare. Across the next sixty years that self-confidence would lead the army to many spectacular victories – and yet it would at the same time cripple it, too, and make it vulnerable to extraordinary defeats. Successive commanders would find themselves brought up short by the simple error of underestimating successive enemies who, it would turn out, could be every bit as courageous as John Tom’s benighted followers.


But there were deeper, more insidious dangers in this attitude, too, for it encouraged the belief that British martial skills were innately of a higher order than those of Britain’s enemies, that victory was the norm to be assumed rather than a prize to be hard won afresh each time by planning, and by skill and nerve and raw courage, and it fostered an inherent conservatism within the army which stifled innovation and creativity, and which was ensconced at the highest levels by the influence of the Duke of Wellington, who saw no reason to think beyond the structures and outlook which had defeated Napoleon in 1815. Bossenden Wood took place at the start of Queen Victoria’s reign, and the sixty years that followed offered the British Army challenges that were sometimes equally strange and certainly more varied than it faced at any time before or since – and a faith in its superiority would sometimes prove a woefully inadequate protection.










CHAPTER TWO





‘The moth-eaten rag’


THE BRITISH ARMY IN 1837





In December 1843, Private Joseph Hinton, who had recently enlisted in the 58th Regiment, recalled his experience of being sent overseas for the first time in the service of the British Empire.




About six months afterwards my company was ordered to march to Gravesend for service abroad. We embarked on the Sir Robert Peel, and went up to Deptford; where we took on board two hundred and fifty convicts, who came to the ship’s side in small boats, under the charge of warders, while we formed a guard, each man with his firelock, or ‘Brown Bess,’ loaded to prevent any attempt at escape. The convicts were all handcuffed, and were conducted down into the hold, which had been fitted up with berths for their accommodation. They were afterwards brought on deck singly, and one of our men, who had been a blacksmith, had to rivet an iron ring upon each ankle. A long chain, fastened to the belt around the man’s waist, was fixed to each ring, and those were not taken off until we landed the convicts in Hobart Town, in Tasmania, except in cases of good conduct, when the men were allowed to work on board. Our time was taken up in watching the prisoners, and we were glad to reach the end of our journey, which occupied five months and a half.1





It was hardly a romantic introduction into the glories of the new Victorian age, and whatever Joseph Hinton had hoped for by taking the Queen’s shilling those few short months before, it is unlikely this was it. Yet, for all the panoply of shackles and chains, for all the weighty guilt heaped upon the men he guarded, the line that actually separated Joseph Hinton and his fellow soldiers from the convicts was a very fine one indeed.


British society at the time of Queen Victoria’s accession was a paradox, divided against itself, confident of its recent past yet uncertain of the future, beset with conflicts and rivalries yet already stepping out to take up an unchallenged role at the centre of the world stage. Even as the shots rang out in Bossenden Wood, British influence was steadily expanding into new areas around the globe, consolidating the rise to dominance in India, with all the strategic imperatives that involved, shoring up what remained, in Canada, of its North American possessions, expanding the first permanent settlements in Africa, and imagining for the first time a role for Australia and New Zealand beyond a penal colony and a ramshackle whaling station. Imperial theorists were increasingly imagining a world reshaped by British ideals and authority.


Accounts from ordinary soldiers from the early period of Queen Victoria’s reign are rare enough, and have often been composed and edited by others, and Hinton gives us few clues as to his origins beyond a broad hint that he might have been a rural labourer from Kent and was unemployed at the time of his enlistment. As such, he was cut from exactly the same cloth as the men who had followed Sir William Courtenay into Bossenden Wood – some of whom were themselves transported – or the men Hinton himself guarded on the long voyage to Australia. If the correlation between ‘Jack Frost and unemployment’ and civil disobedience and crime at home were still hotly debated, few in the army establishment had any doubts that they were by far the best recruiting sergeants.


The British Army was traditionally a volunteer body, and it needed considerable powers of persuasion – and guile – to keep its numbers up to the duties required of it. Even at the height of the Napoleonic Wars, when Britain was fighting a global war not merely for supremacy but for survival, the army had never resorted to conscription. At the time of Waterloo, in 1815, it had nonetheless put some 234,000 men under arms. Governments do not like to pay to maintain armies when they are not needed, however, and no sooner was Napoleon despatched to St Helena than successive governments began to reduce the army’s establishment. Extra battalions raised for long-established regiments were dismissed whilst some regiments were disbanded entirely so that, by 1837, the year of Queen Victoria’s accession, army numbers had dropped to 88,000. Over the same period its allotted funding had been reduced by almost four-fifths. The main fruit of the collapse of the French Empire was that it allowed British interests to expand globally without the challenge of a major international rival so that, even as its numbers and funding were reduced, the British Army was pushed towards an ever-increasing colonial policing role. As a result 1837 proved to be something of a low point in its recruitment, and both funding and recruitment rose steadily over the span of Queen Victoria’s reign in response to the exponential expansion of the Empire overseas.


In 1837 Queen Victoria’s army consisted of ninety-nine Line infantry regiments – so called because they were numbered according to their seniority and therefore their position in a notional ‘Line’ – as well as three Guards regiments and twenty-five cavalry regiments, plus Royal Artillery batteries and companies of Royal Engineers. Even in 1837 nearly half these units were posted overseas in garrisons which stretched across Canada and from India to the Caribbean, from southern Africa to Ceylon and all the way to Australia. There was even an outpost on the Atlantic island of Tristan da Cunha manned, for a while, by a solitary bombardier of the Royal Marines who represented ‘in his own person the Governor, the Chief of the Staff, and the entire garrison’. Over the next sixty years the proportion of those regiments based overseas steadily rose.


Despite the conflicts and difficulties which beset civilian life, the army struggled to keep its numbers up to its authorized strength. If life for the working class could be tough, with long hours of hard work and little enough remuneration for those in employment and raw destitution for those out of it, army life was generally perceived to be worse still. Many civilians regarded it as the last resort of the desperate and the degenerate and indeed it was not uncommon for parents who considered themselves ‘respectable’ to disown sons who enlisted. Successive governments and the military establishment were well aware of this, and there was a general understanding that more and better recruits would only be attracted by improved conditions of service – but there was a pragmatism, too, about the need to keep the ranks filled, regardless of the quality of the men available, and a knowing connivance at the sometimes questionable means of securing them.


At the beginning of the nineteenth century most recruits were seduced to enlist by a simple display of martial glamour. Although infantry regiments bore a title which notionally linked them to a county within the British Isles, in fact no regiment at that point had a fixed base and each sent its own recruiting parties out across the country to wherever they felt recruits might be obtained. Regiments were granted a ‘beating warrant’ which entitled them to work in a particular area, and for the most part the army preferred county towns rather than the new sprawling industrial conurbations. The recruiting party – usually an officer, a sergeant and one or two drummers, all wearing their smartest uniforms – set themselves up at a convenient and conspicuous spot and the drummers would beat the ‘points of war’, the most impressive calls in their repertoire. To ploughboys used to the colourless drudgery of rural life it was certainly an exciting spectacle, and anyone who stopped to listen was regaled by the officer and sergeant with tales of heroism and the smartness of their regiment. Although this practice of ‘beating warrants’ had died away by 1837 the burden of recruiting still fell to appointed recruiting sergeants, who were paid a bounty for each man they enlisted. It was part of their art that the recruiting sergeant cut a smart and impressive figure, and the glamour of the red coat was often exaggerated with eye-catching ribbons and rosettes. They were well aware, too, that the appeal of the military life became more rosy in direct proportion to the amount of alcohol a potential recruit consumed. Exaggerated tales of battlefield glory, of exotic adventures in far-off lands, and of the pulling-power among the ladies of a smart red coat all helped to seduce the unwary. Although they were barred from the middle of the century from recruiting in taverns directly, many recruiting sergeants were good at their job and took pride in it – Harry O’Clery, who enlisted under a false name in the 3rd Regiment (The Buffs) in 1877, noted that he ‘was led to that step by Recruiting-Sergeant Jack Gavigan, who had the credit, while stationed at St. George’s Barracks, of enlisting more men in one year than all the other recruiting-sergeants put together’.2 At the end of an evening a potential recruit, as often as not by that stage drunk, was offered a bounty to enlist – the Queen’s shilling. Once he had accepted it he had entered into a legally binding contract, and only the quick-witted, or at least those who had sobered up in time, stood a slender chance of escaping it.


The army traditionally preferred to seek its recruits in county towns and villages rather than in urban slums because it was generally accepted that out-of-work ploughboys made better soldiers than unemployed weavers. Rural recruits were said to be fitter, more used to physical work and a life outdoors in all weathers, and more amenable to discipline than the malnourished and potentially malcontented urban slum-dwellers. One sergeant-major of the 28th Regiment reported to a Royal Commission in 1835 that:




There are no men so good soldiers as the man who comes from the plough. We would never take a weaver while they were there . . . [weavers] require all the means in the power of their officers . . . to teach them that subordination is the first duty of the profession into which they have entered.3





Had he known the story of Bossenden Wood, he might have added, too, that ploughmen could be induced to great acts by even the most questionable leadership.


Even by 1837, however, there were far fewer rural recruits than there had been a generation before, reflecting the tremendous social upheaval and shift in population to the towns consequent upon the industrial revolution, and by the 1860s only some 15 per cent of recruits identified themselves as having been rural labourers.


There was a change in the national mix within the army, too, and at the beginning of the period Ireland – then of course ruled from London – had far more men in the ranks than its proportion as a total of the population. The Protestant Georgian kings had historically regarded Ireland with suspicion, largely because of the Catholic faith of the majority population and because of its strategic location; Irish Catholics were susceptible to influence from the exiled – and Catholic – house of Stuart, and Ireland remained a back door by which foreign powers might attempt to restore Stuart fortunes. With the death of James Edward Stuart, the ‘Old Pretender’, in 1766, however, the Papacy recognized the legitimacy of the House of Hanover, and the dread of Catholic intervention in British affairs began to fade. This resulted in a gradual relaxing of anti-Catholic laws in Ireland which, in turn, saw both a greater willingness there to enlist in the British Army, and a greater willingness to accept them. A combination of harsh economic conditions and perhaps a greater romantic attachment to the tradition of warrior service in Ireland made it a surprisingly fertile recruiting ground, so much so that during the Napoleonic Wars a broad majority of men in the ranks were Irish, and this included not only regiments bearing Irish titles – like the 27th (Inniskilling) Regiment, or the 88th (Connaught Rangers) – but notionally English regiments as well. There was an obvious irony in this, since ultimately English rule in Ireland rested upon the army’s bayonets, and a substantial proportion of the army which helped maintain English – and Protestant – supremacy there was composed, both officers and ordinary soldiers alike, of Catholic Irishmen. Even at the beginning of Queen Victoria’s reign some 42 per cent of ordinary soldiers in the British Army were Irish, and a further 13 per cent Scottish, leaving scarcely more than 40 per cent to the English and Welsh. This began to change, however, with the potato famines which devastated Irish agriculture from 1846 and which not only led to widespread hunger but undermined much of the traditional fabric of Irish life. Irish peasant families left the countryside in their thousands and whilst the army saw some short-term benefit, as young men enlisted to escape starvation, in the long run the exodus – over 5,500,000 Irish men, women and children emigrated to America between 1846 and 1911 – simply emptied Ireland as a pool of potential recruits. By 1890 just 14 per cent of soldiers in the ranks were Irish, a figure broadly in keeping with their proportion of the population as a whole.


Similarly, the social conditions which had facilitated the raising of Scottish regiments late in the eighteenth century had altered significantly by the middle of the nineteenth. The Highland clans in particular, like the Irish, had been regarded by both the Crown and many ordinary Englishmen with wariness and outright fear since their support of Bonnie Prince Charlie’s rebellion of 1745. By the end of the century, however, the Scottish martial traditions had been deliberately and successfully suborned by the Crown in order to raise several regiments which earned impressive reputations in the American Revolution and the Napoleonic Wars. As with Ireland, however, the patterns of rural life were under threat from powerful new economic forces, and in particular a growing realization among the clan gentry that their lands could be made more profitable by clearing them of their tenants – who were mostly subsistence crofters – and replacing them with sheep. From the 1820s large parts of the Highlands were effectively depopulated, often by force. Many among the uprooted population followed the Irish route to a new life in the Americas, and even among those who remained there festered a lingering resentment and bitterness towards traditional forms of authority and army recruitment, which relied upon the loyalty which bound clansmen to each other and to their laird.


Many contemporary writers were struck by the obvious mix of nationalities within the Victorian army. One nurse attending the sick in the Crimea – who was clearly vulnerable herself to a little Irish charm – claimed to recognize them easily enough:




There was a great variety of characters among the patients – the heavy clumsy English ploughboy, the sharp street-bred London boy, the canny cautious Scot, the irresistibly amusing Irishman with his brogue and bulls. Certainly estimable as they were the Scotch were in general the least attractive patients – silent, grave, cold and cautious; there were none so winning as the Irish, with their quick feeling and ready wit.4





Wherever they were from, the reasons most of them had enlisted were broadly the same, and remained so across the period. Writing in the early years of Queen Victoria’s reign one army NCO, Staff Sergeant J. MacMullen of the 13th Light Infantry, considered that the majority – some 67 per cent – were driven to it by poverty and ‘were labourers and mechanics out of employ, who merely seek for support’.5 A surprisingly large proportion – 13 per cent – had enlisted because they considered, naively perhaps, ‘a soldier’s life an easy one’, whilst 8 per cent were either ‘bad characters’ or criminals who had enlisted as a means of escaping the consequences of their actions in civilian life. This was not unusual – in Georgian times it was common for magistrates to give a convicted man a choice between prison or enlistment, a practice which did not entirely die out until well into Victorian times. Some 7 per cent, thought MacMullen, were ‘discontented and restless’ with their civilian life, and were seeking adventure or opportunities not otherwise open to them, although it’s possible that in this category he included those escaping an unwanted romantic entanglement at home or a father’s wrath. The remaining 5 per cent were a mixture of ‘respectable persons’ – a nice distinction which placed them above the labouring classes – ‘induced by misfortune or imprudence’ and others with reasons entirely their own.


Certainly a strain of desperation runs through the accounts of those who enlisted. This is perhaps inevitable given the impression of army life which prevailed among civilians, of the low esteem in which a soldier was regarded by society at large, of the army’s rigorous discipline, hardship, risks and dangers. In 1837, moreover, enlistment was theoretically for life, although a man who had completed fifteen years’ good service was entitled to a free discharge should he choose to claim it, and one who had served sixteen was entitled to leave with a bounty of six months’ pay. Any soldier who had served less than fifteen years could only buy himself out at a fee of twenty pounds, an almost impossible sum for most to accrue. Even after fifteen years many men were institutionalized and no longer likely to fit back readily into civilian life, and preferred instead to remain in the ranks for as long as they physically could. In the early Victorian period, in particular, the hardships of military life meant that even a man who had joined aged nineteen or twenty and completed twenty years’ service was so worn down and exhausted that he was fit for little else on his discharge.


For most who fell into MacMullen’s ‘unemployed’ category, however, the choice had been simple enough – enlist or starve. Joseph Hinton, our convict guard on the long voyage out to New South Wales, merely remarked that ‘the best shilling I ever saw in my life was the one that I took at Brompton Barracks on the 6th of December 1843’,6 whilst a Sergeant Taffs of the 4th Regiment recalled that ‘at the age of eighteen I found myself, by force of circumstances, starving in the streets of London, and determined to tramp to Chatham and enlist as a soldier’.7 The treasons were not materially different when, in April 1877, Andrew Guthrie




found myself in Maryborough, Queen’s County, Ireland. Rather out of place, certainly, and being out of pocket also, I thought the best thing to put in it was the Queen’s Shilling. So I made the best of my way to the militia staff barracks . . . and asked if they were recruiting for the line.8





Poverty remained the main reason for enlistment until the very end of Queen Victoria’s reign, when there was an unusual upsurge in patriotic enlistment into volunteer units prompted by widespread press coverage of a new war in South Africa. William Adams, the son of a turner from Spitalfields who enlisted in March 1843, listed as his main reason for doing so that ‘our trade was in a very depressed state, and I made up my mind that I would go out and seek for a situation’. On his way to look for a new job, Adams had a chance encounter with a soldier near Charing Cross.




. . . he said to me ‘do you feel disposed to join the army?’


I answered instantly and without one moment’s hesitation, ‘Yes I do!’


He placed in my hand a shilling which he appeared to have quite ready for the purpose, then informed me that I had enlisted in Her Majesty’s 15th Hussars, who were then stationed in India, but would very soon be returning to England.


By this time I found myself in front of the bar of a public house whither I had been led by the sergeant, who proposed that we should ‘Do a brandy and soda’. However, I had a glass of ale. For our refreshment I tendered the shilling which I had received from the sergeant. I received no change. Another man was standing at the bar whom I heard say,


‘Foolish young fellow; sold a life’s liberty for a glass of ale.’9





Yet the allure of the red coat, of broadened horizons and adventure, of cutting a dash to the ladies and of bettering themselves – those elements which the recruiting sergeants so heavily relied upon to sell their trade – was certainly a real one for those who felt stultified by the rigid economic and social stratification of early Victorian England. One such was John Mitchell, a native of Lincolnshire who,




at the age of twenty . . . held a responsible position in Mr R. Hunt’s brewery in St. Martin’s, Stamford at a weekly salary of 11/- without any prospect of an increase. One evening about the 4th June 1841 I was talking with the book keeper, a Mr Wilford (who was a cripple), about our prospects in life and he said ‘if I were fit for a soldier I would enlist tomorrow.’ After further talk we parted, he to his books and I to think the matter over, the result being my mind was made up to leave the service in which I was so wretchedly paid and take service under the Queen, taking care to let no one know of my design, not even my dearly beloved Father and Sister Mary.


On 21st June 1841, I called to see Sister Mary, she had one little child named John Thomas after Father and myself. I kissed her and her baby and took my farewell leaving her in tears. Shortly after, I met poor Father, he gave me ‘Good Morning’ and asked where I was going. I told him on business connected with the brewery. ‘How is it that you are walking?’ I said, ‘It was such a fine morning I preferred walking to riding and am not going far. Good bye Father.’ [I] shook hands and that was the last I saw of my dear old Father.10





Mitchell set out with no very firm idea how or where to enlist but he stumbled by chance on a recruiting party working the rural towns.




I intended on making for Scotland, but on reaching a town called Uppingham I met a soldier of the 58th Regiment on the recruiting service whom I knew came from a village near Stamford. I told him I would enlist, with that he gave me the Queen’s shilling and took me to a magistrate who swore me in, from thence to a doctor who examined me and passed me, the soldier then took me to his billet. Next day I was marched off to Leicester with seven other recruits, remained there three days, then to Coventry where we underwent another examination by the Doctors, three of the seven being rejected. Then on to Liverpool [where] I was billeted at a Public House, the people being very kind to me. Orders were then sent to the Liverpool office to forward recruits for the Regiment to Dublin [where the 58th were then based].11





Unlike Mitchell, a good many of those who took the shilling were inebriated at the time, and often regretted it as soon as they began to sober up. If they did so quickly enough they could change their mind when they appeared before the magistrate assigned to attest them, and could buy their release with a £1 escape fee wryly known as ‘smart money’. Some took the opportunity of those first few days, before the walls of military life closed inexorably around them, to desert, and no doubt congratulated themselves on cheating the Queen of her shilling; indeed, it was not unknown for men to be serial enlisters, taking the shilling more than once and slipping away without ever having any real intention of serving. This was a risky business, though, for if they were recognized they were liable to be treated by the army as deserters, and the punishment could be ferocious.


Some, as Mitchell noted, were rejected at the various medical examinations which took place before they were consigned to their regiments. In fact these were usually cursory affairs, for although the army espoused certain physical requirements it could not in fact afford to be choosy. While men often lied about their age, some were simply too obviously young or too old, and any youth who enlisted below the proper age was liable to be released if a parent traced him and complained to his colonel. In 1837 the minimum age for enlistment was seventeen, and it remained so until 1871 – when it was increased to eighteen – and the maximum age was twenty-five. Ideally the army preferred its recruits to be at least 5ft 6in tall for the infantry and an inch or two taller for the cavalry and artillery, both of which required greater physical stature. In practice, however, when recruits were in short supply, the minimum height was often dropped to 5ft 3in. William Adams was told by the surgeon who examined him




I was very slight for a Heavy Dragoon, and asked if I would go into a foot Regiment instead of cavalry. I said I would be a horse soldier or none at all. At length he passed me as fit for a ‘Heavy Dragoon’.12





Moreover, the medical examinations were less designed to ensure a good standard of overall health as to check that a recruit bore no scars from flogging – which might indicate a previous deserter – or was not in such an advanced stage of venereal disease that he was likely to soon become incapacitated.


If he passed the hurdles of these first few days a recruit found he had surrendered himself to a strange, alien and often harsh new world. The British Army of 1837 was still recognizably the same institution which had defeated Napoleon scarcely twenty years before, and it manoeuvred and fought in the same way, in great dense formations which marched in columns and deployed in lines, extended, wheeled, or fell back on themselves into squares. It was hard, repetitive, brain-numbing work performed as a daily drill in peacetime, and the journey from recruit to a useful soldier required a man to give up his individuality, his previous identity, opinions and aspirations, and instead fit like a small cog in a cumbersome machine, and in order to do it – and to do it without question, often when his life was at stake – he had to surrender himself unquestioningly to the authority of those set over him. William Adams, who had found himself traded between recruiting sergeants from the 15th Hussars to the 7th Dragoons without yet having had the chance to don a uniform, was marched in the rain with the latest crop of recruits to the barracks door.




A few kindly words were spoken by the Colonel from the shelter of the passage, and we were drafted off to the various Troops to which we had been apportioned . . .


On reaching the Barrack room, we found the Troop were just sitting down to dinner. I was at once taken possession of by a huge Irishman who stood 6 ft 3½ ins. high, not a particle of the upper part of whose face was discernible for the amount of hair which covered it. He placed me at the table and before me a plate of boiled meat, a basin of soup, and a piece of bread. Potatoes with their jackets on came rolling towards my plate from both ends of the table, each man contributing one or two from his allowance. By the time they had finished their contributions I had a pile of potatoes in front of my plate, I should think about forty in number. Then I was questioned.


‘Where do you come from, youngster? Who “listed” you?’


Then I heard my tall friend with the hairy face say: ‘Be jabers, he’s not the size of a midge. Never want a horse to mount him so long as you can get a buck goat.’


‘Now, my lad, don’t be shy, take the jacket off yer taters,’ said another. ‘Paddy, chuck down that lump of salt. Here’s some pepper’ – handing me some black-looking stuff in a piece of dirty paper.


At length, having satisfied my hunger, my long friend again came to me, and, taking a short black pipe from his mouth and drawing the stem through his hand, handed the pipe to me, saying;


‘Yez will be able to get half a dozen draws out of it. It’s all the bacca I’ve got until the pay comes out. Have yez got any money?’


Some of them then offered to show me the way to the canteen and as they were kind enough to give me part of their dinner, I could not well do less than give them some beer and tobacco in return. The quantity of beer and tobacco consumed in less than 10 minutes amounted to two shillings and sixpence, which I thought quite enough for what I had of them, and there I left them . . .13





That night, Adams was in for more surprises. No provision had been made for proper bedding for the new recruits, and instead he was allocated a spare iron bedstead covered with a dirty bag containing too little straw to serve effectively as a mattress. He was still pondering his predicament when




suddenly I heard a voice.


‘Now, then, into bed, lights out!’


The candle nearest to me was put out by a boot being thrown at it. For a few minutes all was quiet, then the noise was worse than ever, followed by a fight between a Roman Catholic and a Protestant, both Irishmen. The fight appeared to me to extend to a number of men on each side of the room. Being dark, I could not see how many were engaged in the melee. Iron candlesticks, plates, basins and other articles were thrown from one end of the room to the other. I was glad to creep beneath the blankets for fear I should fall in for a share of the missiles which flew about so plentifully.


The fight had lasted some time when suddenly all was quiet. Lights were brought into the room, when I saw a number of men come in with carbines in their hands. Then I heard several names called out. These men were ordered to dress themselves, and eventually were taken to the guard house.


Sleep that night I could not . . .14





John Mitchell found his first experience of military life no less unsettling.




My first night in a barrack room, to describe it would take too long, only how strange it all seemed to me. Next morning [I was] again examined and measured, fitted with regimental clothing and attended drill from 7 til 8. I had to thank a friend whom I made much older than myself who pointed out how I should think and what to avoid. I had now entered on the duties of a soldier . . .15





For Adams and Mitchell the barracks was now home. Until the end of the eighteenth century there were few purpose-built barracks in the British Isles but in the 1790s the government of the day embarked on a programme to redress this and build a series of permanent barracks at home. These were designed on broadly the same pattern, a series of stone double-storeyed blocks constructed in a square around a central parade ground. The men slept in long rooms, between twenty and forty to each, the beds arranged in rows down each side, sometimes only a foot apart. At the beginning of the nineteenth century most men slept on straw mattresses laid directly on the floor, or at best in straw-filled wooden cots, but by the start of Queen Victoria’s reign a gradual change to iron bedsteads, as William Adams had noted, was already underway. Even so, the rooms were desperately cramped, and the notional allowance of 400 cubic feet per soldier was marginally less than that allowed in the workhouse and considerably less than the 1,000 cubic feet allowed to convicts in prison. Many rooms had no windows and those that did were habitually kept shut, partly because there was a prevailing suspicion that fresh air brought chills and other dangers to health, and partly because the allowance of coal provided for heating was kept to the barest minimum. In the evenings they were dimly lit with oil-lamps or candles. There was no effective sanitation; in 1837 there were no ablution blocks and no latrines within a barrack block – separate latrines consisted of a rack of simple wooden seats arranged over a communal cesspit. A large wooden tub stood within each room to serve as a urinal at night – and in some barracks it was common practice to empty it each morning and fill it with water for washing. Basic ablution blocks were not introduced until the 1850s – the men washing themselves under a hand-pump – and proper urinals until the 1880s, and even then these were so few and so over-worked that they often became unserviceable.


Barrack rooms heaved with a thick fug smelling of coarse humanity, of sour breath, unwashed feet, sweat and flatulence, mixed with the uniquely military odours of ‘pipe-clay, damp clothing, lamp-oil, dish-cloths, soft soap and butter and cheese scrapings’. By 1837 tobacco had become popular among all ranks in the army, although the means of consumption was, like so much else, divided along class lines – officers preferred cheroots and, from the 1870s, cigarettes, whilst ordinary soldiers smoked pipes. Many soldiers passed their free hours lying on their beds and smoking, with the result that barrack rooms were often so smoky that it was impossible to see from one side to the other. The pungent smell of tobacco may at least have mercifully masked some of the other endemic odours, but it did little for the men’s long-term health. Queen Victoria may have been referring to conditions that she witnessed in the military hospital in Chatham in 1850 but barrack life was, if anything, worse.




The wards are more like prisons than hospitals, the windows so high that no one can look out of them . . . There is no dining room or hall, so that the poor men must have their dinners in the same room where they sleep, and in which some may be dying, and, at any rate, many suffering, whilst others are at their meals . . .16





Cooking was, indeed, all part of the routine of barrack-room life. Each room was allotted one large copper cauldron for every twelve infantrymen or eight cavalrymen and there was no trained cook, the duty being performed by men selected among themselves, whilst the daily ration hardly changed across the nineteenth century. Men were entitled to three-quarters of a pound of meat, or a pound if – as it usually was – it was on the bone, and a pound of coarse bread. These were usually supplemented in Britain with potatoes – sometimes, as Adams suggests, in abundance – and there was a small allowance of luxuries such as butter or cheese and rice; if a soldier wanted anything more, such as fruit and vegetables, he was expected to buy his own from the hawkers who were allowed under a watchful eye into the barracks each day. The military diet was usually therefore unimaginative and monotonous, with boiled beef and potatoes serving as dinner day after day. Three meal breaks a day had become the common routine by the 1830s, and whilst soldiers in the Napoleonic Wars usually breakfasted on bread washed down with ‘small beer’ – a weak beer brewed largely to make water safer and more palatable to drink – tea had largely come to replace this. Although ‘tea’ marked the end of daily duties apart from guard duty no extra food was issued, and if a soldier wanted an afternoon meal he would have to make do with any bread he had saved throughout the day.


In peacetime the daily routine varied little across the period. For an infantryman reveille sounded at 6 a.m. followed by a parade at 7 a.m. Breakfast was at 8 a.m. followed by recruits’ drill, fatigue duties and then, at 12 noon, another parade. Dinner followed at 1 p.m., then more recruits’ drill and tea at 4 p.m. Soldiers then had time free until roll call at 9.30 p.m. ‘Lights Out’ was usually at 10.15 p.m. Guard duty – of manning the gates, inspecting those who came in or went out, and mounting occasional forays into town at the end of the evening to round up drunken soldiers – was appointed to a dozen men rostered on by rotation for twelve hours at a stretch.


Life was more complicated in cavalry regiments because of the needs of the horses and because many recruits could not ride when they enlisted. Horses were turned out to grass for perhaps a third of a year but for the rest of the time a cavalry recruit’s day began before dawn, and he had to dress and arrange his bed before the first trumpet-call to duty at 5.15 a.m. He then proceeded to the stables to muck out the horses, and after breakfast attended riding school, where the riding master traditionally held that a recruit learned best how to stay on his horse by the hard experience of falling off it. Stables were cleaned again at 11 a.m., followed by cleaning horse-tack, dinner, foot- and weapon-drill, more stables, and more cleaning of kit, all of which sent the new cavalryman to his bed tired and with less free time than his infantry counterpart.


It might take an infantry recruit six months to learn the basics of army drill, of saluting, of standing to attention or at ease, of understanding his place in the line, of marching at a pace of seventy-five steps to a minute, of turning in formation and deploying from a close-order formation to an extended one and back again. Once he had completed that to his drill instructor’s exacting standards he passed on to company drill. Although recruits were taught the fundamentals of their weapons and how to handle them to order – by 1837 the old flintlock ‘Brown Bess’ was steadily being replaced by the new percussion musket – and of bayonet drill, live-firing exercises were rare because few colonels wanted to bear the cost of the powder and shot expended. A trained soldier might perhaps have the opportunity to fire blank cartridges on the grand field-days that took place occasionally on common ground near the barracks, and which were in effect practice battles, but until the middle of the century it was still unusual for a soldier to be despatched to a theatre of war having fired more than a handful of live rounds.


Unattractive as Victorian military life might seem to modern eyes, the simple fact was that it was in many ways more secure and comfortable than contemporary civilian life. If the food was plain and unimaginative it was at least wholesome and regular, and there was none of the very real risk of the hunger to which a man engaged in seasonal employment in civilian life could fear. And if the barracks were dark, gloomy and unpleasant, they were still better than a good deal of civilian accommodation, and infinitely preferable to the streets. They were, perhaps, no place for the shy and sensitive, but few men from poor backgrounds had made it to the age of enlistment without being exposed to the harsher realities of life. They may have been driven to enlist by desperate circumstances, and were almost always ignorant and ill-educated, but only a small proportion of them – estimated at between just 6 per cent and 10 per cent – were wholly bad characters, unregenerate thieves, liars, drunkards and bullies whose behaviour exasperated their comrades as much as it did their officers. Writing of the 1870s, William Robertson – whose remarkable career saw him join the army as a private soldier but rise to the rank of field marshal – considered that his colleagues were




very admirable comrades in some respects, with a commendable code of honour of their own, [but they] were in many cases – not in all – addicted to rough behaviour, heavy drinking, and hard swearing. They could not well be blamed for this. Year in and year out they went through the same routine, were treated like machines – of an inferior kind – and having little prospect of finding decent employment on the expiration of their . . . engagement, they lived only for the present, the single bright spot in their existence being the receipt of a few shillings – perhaps not more than one – on the weekly pay day. These rugged veterans exacted full deference from the recruit, who was assigned the worst bed in the room, given the smallest amount of food, and the least palatable, had to ‘lend’ them articles of kit which they had lost or sold, ‘fag’ for them in a variety of ways, and, finally, was expected to share with them at the regimental canteen such cash as he might have in the purchase of beer sold at 3d a quart . . .17





Indeed, those recruits who had trusted the silver tongues of the recruiting sergeants regarding the financial rewards of soldiering were in for an early disappointment. Bounties were often offered to encourage men to enlist but, having received it, recruits often found that their new comrades insisted on their drinking it away together. Across the Victorian period an ordinary soldier was paid a shilling a day, but this was subject to a wide range of ‘stoppages’ – deducted at source – to cover the cost of replacing, repairing or cleaning the very uniform or equipment items they were required to possess. Just days after enlisting William Adams recalled that one of his fellow recruits




came to me in a terrible state of mind. He said he had just been served out with his regimental necessaries, and, after taking the whole of his bounty and Cavalry equipment allowance, his account book showed him to be one pound eighteen shillings and ninepence in debt. All he had received since the day he enlisted was two shillings and sixpence on passing the medical inspection, ten shillings on being sworn in, one shilling per day in London and only one penny per day since he arrived in Gosport.


We were told by the Recruiting Sergeant that we should only be allowed to draw a portion of our bounty as part of it would be required to pay for our Regimental necessaries; but we found out, as thousands had done before and since – if all Cavalry Regiments were alike – that the bounty and Cavalry equipment allowance put together would not meet the cost by nearly two pounds. The consequence was the recruit was put under stoppages, and would receive only one penny per day until the amount owing was paid off. If the recruit was careful of his necessaries he might be clear of debt in six months; if otherwise, he would be years without receiving more than one penny per day.18





Even among those for whom recruitment was but a distant memory, the actual amount paid at the end of the week, as Robertson noted, might only amount to a single shilling. This was certainly below what a manual labourer could expect to earn, and a good deal less than the ten shillings a week the Tolpuddle Martyrs had risked transportation for. Yet most civilian labourers were paid on a daily or weekly rate when work was available – and nothing when it was not. At least army pay was regular: and in the 1870s the army estimated that the full range of benefits received by a soldier, when his clothing, accommodation and food were taken into account, was around £40 annually, at a time when his civilian equivalent in full-time employment might earn between £40 and £49 a year.


Whatever money a soldier did receive at the end of the week there was not, in any case, much to spend it on. From the middle of the nineteenth century there were concerns expressed by a number of civilian charities regarding the soldiers’ moral welfare – something which earlier generations had taken for granted as irredeemable – and in response to this a number of provisions were made to provide alcohol-free soldiers’ day-rooms, where men could meet to drink tea or coffee, to talk, play games and, for the lucky few, to read. Although these were partially successful, they had to compete with the more enduring appeal of the army canteen, which, as Robertson suggests, had a firm grip on the ordinary soldiers’ sense of social recreation. Living as they did in a world of crushing routine, most soldiers were only too happy to seek solace in drink, and, despite the fact that drunkenness on duty was a punishable offence – and its correlation with acts of insubordination and dereliction of duty was well known – the soldiers’ affinity for it was legendary. And whatever indiscretions it encouraged within the barracks, moreover, they were multiplied a thousand-fold outside of it. ‘Do you see that peak?’ an officer once asked an acquaintance in India, pointing to a distant mountain-top,




Put a Bengal artilleryman alone on top of that peak in the morning, and he’ll be drunk before night, wherever it may come from! Upon my soul, I think they could get liquor out of the rock itself!





Cut loose from their barracks, soldiers unleashed on civilian hostelries at home could rarely resist disgracing themselves, and brawls between soldiers of different regiments, or between soldiers and civilians, were a familiar irritant to the authorities. As late as 1877 Andrew Guthrie of the 90th Regiment recalled rather ruefully that within a few months of enlisting:




I was passed by my comrades as a Don at drinking, quarrelling and rather too well acquainted with the character that resorted the bars of The Fountain Royal Arms, Aldershot Arms etc. Enough of that, I was young and foolish, and among strangers, nothing to occupy my mind except beer, tobacco and **** . . .19





Intemperance of quite literally suicidal proportions provides a constant backdrop to Guthrie’s diary of his army life. Soldiers looked to any change of circumstances to provide a clandestine opportunity to drink, and they seized their chances regardless of the risk of punishment or to their own health. When the 27th Regiment disembarked at Gosport on returning from several years in India, Guthrie merely noted that ‘for the next few days there was a great deal of drunkenness.’ When his own 90th Regiment was despatched to Africa for the closing stages of the Ninth Cape Frontier War he noted that on the first night ashore at Port Elizabeth the order was given that




no man leave camp. But for all that there was any amount went out and a piquet had to be sent to bring them in. They brought in several drunk and carried them to a guardroom and left them.20





Not long after the battalion marched to the front ‘a man named Murphy of “A” Company . . . died through the effect of “Cape Smoke”, a kind of liquor’ whilst a week later a man of the 88th Connaught Rangers ‘found out during the night where the rum was kept. He broke open the barrel and drank that much that he was dead in the morning. We sewed him up in two sacks and buried him at the foot of a tree.’21


If men did not poison themselves in their epic pursuit of drink they ran the risk of fierce punishments when they sobered up. There was a degree of discretion available to a commanding officer in this, and a lenient colonel might simply pass over minor offences, like the men Guthrie saw cut loose on their first night in Africa, with a spell in the discomfort of the guardhouse to nurse their sore heads and a charge in the morning. A man who missed a beat on the parade ground might get away with a very loud and very public dressing down by his sergeant on the spot, but an NCO who failed in his duties could be reduced to the ranks. John Mitchell of the 58th had taken well to army life and had reached the rank of sergeant after just two years’ service – only to lose it when he was absent on parade. Andrew Guthrie was promoted to corporal not long after arriving in Africa but was court-martialled for ‘allowing [something unspecified] in my tent . . . sentence; reduced to ranks’. A reduced NCO might soon recover his position, however – by 1848, seven years after his enlistment, John Mitchell had overcome his fall from grace and made the exalted rank of colour sergeant.


At the other end of the spectrum more serious offences could expect harsh treatment, and until at least the 1880s capital and corporal punishments remained the mainstay of army discipline. In 1858 Sergeant-Major Richard Ellis of the 3rd Regiment, whilst stationed in Malta on his return from the Crimea, recalled that




a gunner of the Royal Artillery [attempted] to shoot the orderly officer of his company, and for this offence he was condemned to be shot. The whole of the men in the garrison were paraded and pontooned across the harbour to Valetta, where the execution was to take place. The Burial Service was read by the chaplain, and the prisoner was blindfolded by the provost-marshal and conducted to the spot on which he was to suffer, which was strewn with sawdust, the coffin being placed by the man’s side. A party of twelve men were served out with rifles, six only being loaded, so that the men could not tell which of them caused the death. The provost-marshal was a gunner, and a friend of the prisoner, and had, by the prisoner’s request, been appointed to the post for the day only. He bound the hands of the condemned man behind his back, and placed him in position, with his face to the firing party, and the sea behind him. The man went down on one knee, and the sergeant in command of the firing party gave in an undertone the words, ‘Ready! Present! Fire!!!’ The poor fellow fell to the ground riddled with shots, and the troops were ordered to march past, with the command to each company, ‘Eyes right!’, and after that we saw no more of him.22





The most conspicuous symbol of army discipline was flogging. The Duke of Wellington was a great believer that the men under his command could only be brought to do their often dangerous and unpleasant duty by judicious use of the lash, and in the Napoleonic period the various levels of court-martial had almost unlimited powers regarding the number they could inflict. Punishments of 500 lashes were not uncommon, and men sometimes died under the weight of them. A flogging was intended as much as a deterrent to others as a punishment to the individual and it was carried out in public, and with considerable ceremony. The entire regiment would be drawn up in a hollow square with the miscreant stripped to the waist and tied to a triangular scaffold – originally made from sergeants’ pikes, called spontoons, although a gun-carriage was often used in the field – in the centre. The lashes were laid on, usually by the regimental drummers, with the infamous ‘cat o’ nine tails’, a whip with nine knotted leather strings, * while a senior officer counted them off and the remaining drummers played to drown out the screams. Flogging was a messy affair, for after a few strokes the cat stripped away flesh and tore into muscle, and repeated blows spattered blood around the arena. There was an awful deliberation about the whole ghastly process and the strain of watching it caused many a battle-hardened veteran to faint. William Adams passed out the first time he saw a man flogged, and admitted:




I never got rid of that horrible dread of witnessing a man being flogged. In vain I struggled and fought against it, but to no purpose. I have closed my eyes that I might not see the horrible brutality, but I could not shut out from my ears the sound of the ‘cat’ each time it came in contact with the poor wretch’s back. Several times on the field and in temporary hospitals I have assisted in holding men undergoing amputation of leg or arm or other surgical operations, but never experienced the dreadful sensations which I have described on seeing a man flogged.23





Once the punishment was completed the man was cut loose and salt water thrown on his wounds, and whilst this served as a crude antiseptic to stave off infection, it did little to ease the pain. Some men were sufficiently hardened by the rigours of their daily lives to shrug off a flogging with a calculated insouciance, but for the majority it was several days before they could return to their duties – and they carried the scars all their lives.


Flogging was such a conspicuous symbol of the brutality of the army regime that it was one of the few areas of military life that consistently attracted civilian pressure for reform. In 1836, shortly before the new Queen’s accession, a Royal Commission had limited the maximum sentence which could be awarded by a regimental court-martial to 100 lashes, or to 200 for a more serious general court-martial. This was further reduced after a scandal following the death of Private Frederick John White of the 7th Hussars in 1846. The 7th were then based in Hounslow Barracks in London, and twenty-seven-year-old White, reputedly one of the strongest men in his regiment, struck a sergeant with a metal bar during a drunken brawl. White was court-martialled and sentenced to 150 lashes, and these were delivered before the assembled regiment on 15 June 1846. They were laid on by the regimental farriers – chosen for the duty in cavalry regiments because of the strength of their hammer-arms – who worked in relays of twenty-five lashes each, to keep themselves fresh. White remained conscious throughout the ordeal but ten men watching fainted during the punishment. Once it was over, White was cut free and the 7th’s commanding officer, Lieutenant-Colonel Whyte, delivered a homily on military justice. White walked to the hospital where a cursory examination decided that he had suffered no undue effects. The following day, however, he complained of pains in his chest and a few weeks later, on 11 July, he died. The regiment’s medical officer, Dr Warren – who had been present throughout the punishment – declared the death to be due to ‘natural causes’ but White’s comrades were so infuriated by this decision that Colonel Whyte feared a mutiny, and ordered that they surrender their cartridges. Dr Warren applied for White’s body to be interred in a nearby churchyard but the vicar was so troubled by the incident that he refused to allow a burial until a full inquest had been held. The local coroner took up the case and, despite attempts by the army to obstruct him, ordered a full autopsy and held the inquest in public. Frederick John White, he declared officially, had died ‘from the mortal effects of a cruel and severe flogging of 150 lashes’. This verdict provoked a wave of public outrage. Colonel Whyte became the subject of such abuse whenever he left the barracks that he later transferred to the command of a regiment in India. A petition calling for the end of flogging was presented to the House of Lords, and after a debate the War Office agreed to limit the maximum number of lashes to fifty. In 1867 it was further limited as a punishment for serious crimes only, such as mutiny or attempting violence towards an officer, and shortly afterwards was discontinued for troops on home service.


Flogging remained in place as a punishment – and for much lesser offences – for men on active service, however, and would stay so until the late 1870s. Andrew Guthrie witnessed two men punished who were found guilty of being drunk on the march in enemy territory, which, he noted crisply, was ‘a serious offence’.




About 1 p.m. one of the guns was drawn up on an open space in front of the tents and unlimbered. At 2 p.m. the Company fell in and marched to where the gun carriage stood and with the men of the RA formed a square round it. We got the command to fix bayonets and then the escort from the guard brought in the prisoners. The artillery man was first, tied to the wheel and a farrier stepped to the front and took off his coat, everyone had heard of the cat o’ nine tails, it was then produced and the farrier prepared to inflict the punishment. The officer said ‘farrier, do your duty’ and whip goes the cat in the air and then the sharp crack as it descended on the naked back of the unfortunate victim, and the groans that escaped him brought tears to the eyes of more than one man present and blanched the cheek of men who would and did face the enemy with as little thought of fear as if they were at a sham fight on the hill of Aldershot. The Officers to a man turned their backs but our orders were look to your front. After 25 lashes the prisoner was cut down and the other tied up and the same number inflicted. He was then cut down and both men marched to the doctor’s tent to get their backs dressed. The Major made a speech to the Company and they were then dismissed, cursing the cruelty of the army at large and all commanding officers to boot.24





Although the resentment felt by soldiers at flogging was obvious enough, many officers even by this period felt that the cat served as a final deterrent, and were sceptical of how army discipline might be maintained without it, especially on active service. There were 545 floggings during the Zulu campaign alone, and one officer, Lieutenant-Colonel Phillip Anstruther of the 94th Regiment – who was by no means a brutal man – processed twenty-four court-martials in his regiment in just one two-month period in 1880. This was, admittedly, a difficult time for the regiment; the 94th had been marched straight from the closing stages of the Zulu campaign to take up garrison duties in the Transvaal. Boer settlers there were resentful of their presence, and they were stationed in detachments in small, dusty, dreary one-horse villages where there was little to do beyond the usual unending yearning for drink. Under such conditions, Anstruther ruefully admitted he would be ‘sorry to command a regiment in the field when flogging was abolished’.


As it happened, neither Anstruther nor flogging would survive to the end of 1881. In December 1880 the Transvaal Boers rose in revolt, and Anstruther was mortally wounded in the first action of the war, and no sooner had the war ended than there was a Parliamentary commission into the behaviour of troops in southern Africa, and into the high incidence of floggings awarded as punishments. It recommended that flogging finally be abolished in the British Army entirely.


*


The Duke of Wellington himself had famously observed once that the soldiers of the British Army




are the scum of the earth. People talk of their enlisting from their fine military feeling – all stuff, no such thing. Some of our men enlist from having got bastard children, some for minor offences, many more for drink; but you can hardly conceive such a set brought together, and it really is wonderful we should have made them the fine fellows they are.25





Wellington was, of course, a man known for his blunt opinions, and his remark is often, in any case, taken out of context – his point was that great things were made of such unpromising raw material – but it’s probably true to say that his comments sum up the way civilian society regarded its professional soldiers across the Victorian period. The squalid conditions which drove men to enlist, the soldiers’ Hogarthian reputation for drunkenness and debauchery, the brutal regime they lived under all combined with a wariness and suspicion of their political role at home which had been honed by events like Peterloo and Bossenden Wood. John Mitchell had been wise enough not to tell his beloved father and sister of his intention to enlist. In the 1870s William Robertson recalled that his mother, when she heard the news, had wished him dead rather than in a red coat. If the poverty-stricken inhabitants of the growing slums of the new industrial cities were regarded as degraded and degenerate, the public invariably regarded soldiers as worse still. ‘It was not uncommon’ across the period, recalled Surgeon-General William Munro,




to hear people speak, perhaps in ignorance, but sometimes in contempt, of the ‘common soldier’. He was, in their view, a creature to be shunned by the good and virtuous of society, to be excluded from certain places of public amusement, an outcast not to be thought of or considered until his services were required to fight his country’s battles . . .26





And yet, of course, even such a masculine institution as the army could not exist without all contact with civilian life, and women remained a presence in military life to a degree that seems surprising today, even among the lower ranks. William Robertson noted that until shortly before he enlisted in 1877




it had been the custom of a married soldier and his wife, and such children as they possessed, to live in one corner of the barrack room, screened off with blankets and in return for this accommodation and a share of the rations the wife kept the room clean, washed and mended the men’s clothing, and attended to the preparation of their meals. This custom was not without its points, as the women exercised a steadying influence over the men, while the latter seldom if ever forgot that a woman was in the room, and anyone who did forget was promptly brought to order by the others. Still, it could not be wholly without its undesirable side . . .27
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